EXPRESSION ANALYSIS OF TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS ELK-1 AND PEA3

by Elif Kon

Submitted to the Institute of Graduate Studies in Science and Engineering in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in

Biotechnology

Yeditepe University 2013

EXPRESSION ANALYSIS OF TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS ELK-1 AND PEA3

APPROVED BY:

Prof. Dr. Işıl Aksan Kurnaz (Thessis Supervisor)

Asst. Prof. Nagehan Ersoy Tunalı

Asst. Prof. Andrew John Harvey

nust

DATE OF APPROVAL: .../.../...

Nevin Uysal ve Serdal Kon'a ithafen

...

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Isil Aksan Kurnaz for her support and advice throughout my research period. To work in her guidance in this project was unprizable.

I would like to Berrak Caglayan for Pea3 phosphomutants.

I would like to thank Axan family members: Göksu Alpay, Başak Kandemir, Perihan Ünver Uçkaç, Eray Şahin and Oya Arı for their endless help. Thanks to Yeşeren Kayacan, Ayça Ece Nezir and Ekin Sönmez for their support for helping me in experiments during their undergraduate studies. I would also like to thank Ayca Zeynep İlter for her technical support.

I would like to thank my friends, Elif Kamberli, Oben Karakuş, Alpen Ortuğ, Ceren Mahmutoğlu, Merve Seven, Burcu Gür, İnci Kurt, and Görkem Cemali for being present as many times as I needed and for their kindness.

My deepest gratitude goes to my parents and my entire family. I am grateful for their emotional and financial support, love and constant encouragement.

ABSTRACT

EXPRESSION ANALYSIS OF TRANSCRIPTION FACTORS ELK-1 AND PEA3

Transcription factors are the proteins that regulate the gene expression via binding to the promoter or enhancer regions of DNA sequences. They perform this function alone or with other proteins in a complex, by promoting or suppressing expression. These proteins have a key role in regulation of cell growth, cell proliferation and apoptosis. Elk-1 is a member of ETS- domain transcription factor, which is activated by MAPK pathway and regulates immediately early genes such as c-fos gene, which provides neuronal survival and proliferation. Pea3 transcription factor family belongs to ETS domain transcription factor superfamily and acts as nuclear targets of signal-transduction pathways, including cell proliferation, differentiation, development and apoptosis like, the other members of ETS super-family. A wide variety of the regulatory events that involve ETS domain proteins require MAPK pathways in order to mediate the phosphorylation processes. In this study, we tried to analyze expression and function of two different transcription factors, namely Elk-1 and Pea3 from different aspects. In the first part of the study, we aimed to identify the alternative splicing forms in open reading frame of transcription factor Elk-1 in different cell lines. In the second part of the study, the purpose was to optimize expression of wildtype and mutant GST-Pea3 fusion proteins for further phosphorylation analyses.

ÖZET

ELK-1 VE PEA3 TRANSKRİPSİYON FAKTÖRLERİNİN EKSPRESYON ANALİZLERİ

Transkripsiyon faktörleri, DNA dizilerinin promotör ya da artırıcı bölgelerine bağlanarak gen anlatımını düzenleyen proteinlerdir. Bu düzenlemeyi tek başlarına ya da diğer proteinlerle kompleks oluşturarak gen anlatımını artırır ya da baskılarlar. Bu proteinler hücre büyümesinde, çoğalmasında ve apoptozda anahtar rol oynarlar. Elk-1, ETS ailesine üye olan bir transkripsiyon faktörü olup MAPK yolağı tarafından aktive edilen ve nöronal sağ kalım ve farklılaşmayı sağlayan c-fos gibi genleri düzenler. Pea3 transkripsiyon faktörü ise ETS domain ailesinin üyelerinden biri olan ve diğer üyeler gibi hücre çoğalması, farklılaşması, gelişmesi ve ölümünü içeren sinyal transdüksiyon yolağının nükleer hedefi olarak görev yapar. Düzenleyici olaylarını birçoğu ETS domain proteinlerinin MAPK yolağındaki fosforlanma olaylarını kapsar. Bu çalışmada, Elk-1 ve Pea3 transkripsiyon faktörlerinin fonksiyon ve gen anlatımlarını farklı yönlerden analiz etmeye çalıştık. Çalışmanın ilk aşamasında, farklı hücre hatlarında Elk-1 transkripsiyon faktörünün açık okuma penceresinde alternatif kırpılma formlarını tanımlamayı amaçlamış olup, ikinci kısmında ise, ileriki fosforilasyon analizlerinde kullanılmak üzere doğal ve mutant GST-Pea3 füzyon proteinlerinin anlatımlarını optimize ettik.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	v
ÖZET	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS	xiv
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. ETS Transcription Factors	1
1.2. PEA3 Superfamily	4
1.3. Transcription Factor Elk-1	9
1.3.1. Alternative Splicing and Elk-1	10
2. MATERIALS	13
2.1. Bioinformatics Tools	13
2.2. Cell Culture	13
2.2.1. Cell Lines	13
2.2.2. Cell Culture Maintaining Medium and Supplements	13
2.2.3. Cell Culture Maintaining Plates	14
2.3. Bacterial Assays	14
2.3.1. Bacterial Strain	14
2.3.2. Bacterial Assay Reagents and Equipments	14
2.4. Plasmid	14
2.5. GST Pull Down Assay	16
2.5.1. PCR Amplification of mPea3	16
2.5.2. Digestion and Ligation of PCR amplicons and pGEX-4T-2 Empty Vector	17
2.6. Protein Assay	17
2.6.1. SDS Page and Western Blot	17
2.6.2. GST Pull Down Assay	18
2.7. Expression Level Assays	19

3. METHOD
3.1. Preparation of Mutant Plasmid Constructs
3.1.1. Insert Preparation
3.1.2. Double Digestion with BamH I and EcoR I Restriction Enzymes
3.1.3. Ligation of PCR Product and pGEX-4T-2 Vector
3.1.4. Preparation of Competent Cells
3.1.5. Transformation
3.1.6. Screening with Restriction Enzyme
3.1.7. Evaluation of the Cloned Gene Sequence
3.2. GST-Pull Down Assay
3.2.1. Bacterial Expression of GST-Fused Proteins
3.2.2. Preparation of SDS-PAGE
3.3. Alternative Splicing Assays
3.3.1. RNA Isolation and cDNA Synthesis
3.3.2. PCR Analysis of Alternative Splicing
3.3.3. Western Blotting Analysis
3.3.3.1. Preparation of Cell Lysate
3.3.3.2. SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting
4. RESULTS
4.1. Alternative Splicing of Elk-1
4.1.1. Primer optimization for Alternative Splicing Primer
4.1.2. PCR Analysis of Alternative Splicing Elk-1
4.1.3. Western Blot Analysis
4.2. Wildtype and phosphor-mutant GST-PEA3 Expression
4.2.1. Preparation of wildtype and phosphor-mutant GST-PEA3 Fusion Proteins 35
4.2.1.1. Preperation of Inserts
4.2.1.2. Screening of GST-Pea3 Plasmids
4.2.2. Expression Optimization of Wild-type and Mutant Pea3 GST Plasmids 41
6. DISCUSSION
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.	ETS transcription factor family	2
Figure 1.2.	Ribbon structure of ETS domain while it is bound to DNA duplex which posses core GGAA.	3
Figure 1.3.	Sequence alignment of human Pea3 subfamily	5
Figure 1.4.	Regulatory domains of Pea3 group ETS transcription factor	6
Figure 1.5.	A model demonstration of transactivation of PEA3 group members via different signal transduction pathways	7
Figure 1.6.	Functional domains and major post-translational modifications of the Elk-1 protein	9
Figure 1.7.	Scheme of Alternative Splicing of Elk-1	11
Figure 2.1.	Map of pGEX-4T-2 Plasmid	15
Figure 2.2.	Primer alignment for alternative splicing of Elk-1	19
Figure 4.1.	An example of Gradient PCR result	31
Figure 4.2	Scheme of different primer pairs used to determine alternative splicing	32

	isoforms of Elk-1 reported in Ensemble database	
Figure 4.3.	PCR analysis of alternative splicing Elk-1	33
Figure 4.4.	Calculated folding values for PCR products obtained	34
Figure 4.5.	Western blotting results	35
Figure 4.6.	Predicted phosphorylation sites of mouse Pea3	36
Figure 4.7.	PCR amplification of mPea3 wild-type phosphor mutants from pCMV- Flag backbone templates.	37
Figure 4.8.	PCR amplification mPea3 wild-type phosphor mutants of mPea3 wild-type phosphor mutants	37
Figure 4.9.	Screening results of wild-type Pea3, S101A, S101E	38
Figure 4.10.	Screening results of GST-mPea3-S90A mutant. Pink arrows represent insert containing plasmids.	39
Figure 4.11.	Screening results of GST-mPEA3-S90E mutant. Blue arrows represent insert containing plasmids.	40
Figure 4.12.	Screening results of GST-mPea3-S458E mutant yellow arrows represent insert containing plasmids.	40
Figure 4.13.	A representative example of sequencing data	41

Figure 4.14.	Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPEA3	
	(wildtype).	42
Figure 4.15.	Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPEA3-S101E.	43
Figure 4.16.	Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPEA3-S90E	44
Figure 4.17.	Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPEA3-S101A	45
Figure 4.18.	Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPEA3-S458E.	46

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1.	Bioinformatics tools that were utilized in the thesis	13
Table 2.2.	Primer couples designed to clone mPea3 phosphor-mutants into PGEX- 4T-2 vector.	17
Table 2.3.	Primer couples designed to indicate alternative splicing form of Elk-1	19
Table 2.4.	GAPDH primer couple	19
Table 3.1.	Ingredients of the PCR	21
Table 3.2.	PCR steps for pGEX forward and pGEX reverse primers	22
Table 3.3.	Double digestion reaction of wild type and mutant Pea3 and pGEX-4T-2 vector	22
Table 3.4.	Ligation reaction components and volumes ers	23
Table 3.5.	Ingredients of restriction enzyme screening	24
Table 3.6.	Ingredients of resolving gel	25
Table 3.7.	Ingredients of stacking gel from 1st step PCR	26

Table 3.8.	Ingredients of RT mix	26
Table 3.9.	Ingredients for cDNA synthesis	27
Table 3.10.	cDNA synthesis conditions	27
Table 3.11.	PCR ingredients for expression analysis	28
Table 3.12.	Cycling parameters for PCR	28
Table 3.13.	Annealing temperatures for GAPDH and alternative splicing primers	28
Table 4.1.	Alternative splicing products of primer couples	32
Table 4.2.	Concentration values of PCR Amplification Product and Double Digestion Product	38

LIST OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS

A	Alanine
AD	Activation domain
AD	Alzeihmer's Disease
AMP	Ampicillin
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
CaCl ₂	Calcium Chloride
CIDD	Central Inhibitory DNA Binding Domain
СТ	Carboxy Terminal
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DTT	Dithiothreitol
E1AF	E1A enhancer-binding protein
E. coli	Escherichia coli
E26	E-Twenty Six
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid
ERK 1/2	Extracellular Regulated Kinase 1/2
ETS	E-Twenty Six
ETV 1/4/5	ETS Variant Gene 1/4/5
FBS	Fetal Bovine Serum
FGF	Fibroblast Growth Factor
GDNF	Glial cell-line Derived Neurotrophic Factor
Glu	Glutamic acid
HCL	Hydrochloric Acid
HD	Hungtington's Disease
HEK293	Human Embryonic Kidney Cell Line
IGF	Insulin-like Growth Factor
JNK	c-Jun N Terminal Kinase

1	Liter
LB	Luria-Bertani
МАРК	Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
ml	Milliliters
mM	Milimolar
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinases
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
NaOH	Sodium Hydroxide
ng	Nanogram
NGF	Nerve Growth Factor
nM	Nanomolar
PBS	Phosphate Buffered Saline
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PEA3	Polyomavirus Enhancer Activator 3
рН	Negative log of hydrogen ion concentration
PNT	Pointed Domain
Rpm	Rotation per minute
RT	Room Temperature
S	Serine
SDS	Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate
SH-SY5Y	Human Neuroblastoma Cell Line
SMA	Spinal Muscular Atrophy
SRE	Serum Response Element
SRF	Serum Response Factor
SUMO	Small Ubiquitin-Like Modifier
TAD	Transactivation Domains
TBS	Tris-buffered saline
TCF	Ternary Complex Factor
TF	TransFast
UV	UltraViolet
μl	Microliters

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. ETS Transcription Factors

Transcription factors are the proteins that regulate gene expression via binding to the promoter or enhancer regions of DNA sequences [1]. They perform this function alone or with other proteins in a complex, by promoting or suppressing expression. These proteins play roles in the regulation of cell growth, cell proliferation [2] and apoptosis [3]. Moreover, co-activators, co-repressors and different factors can control the activity of the transcription factors. Stabilizing or blocking the RNA polymerase binding to DNA, catalyzing the acetylation or deacetylation of the histone proteins and recruiting the co-activator or co-repressor proteins to the transcription factor – DNA complex are the regulation mechanism of transcription factors [4]. The rate of the transcription factor synthesis, nuclear localization [5], activation by ligand binding, phosphorylation [6] or interaction with other proteins, accessibility of the DNA-binding site [7], availability of other cofactors or transcription factors are key steps for the regulation processes.

Most of the transcription factors can bind to specific DNA sequences, and these transregulatory proteins can be classified according to the similarities in DNA binding sequences and their structures. Within such a transcription factor family, proteins possess a common core structure in their DNA-binding sites and as a general rule, slight differences in the amino acids at the binding site can change the transcription factor's ability to bind to a specific DNA sequence. In addition to having this sequence-specific DNA-binding domain, transcription factors contain a domain involved in activating the transcription of the gene whose promoter or enhancer that it is bound to. Generally, the trans-activating domain allows that transcription factor to interact with proteins involved in binding RNA polymerase. This interaction enhances the efficiency with which the basal transcriptional complex can be built and bind RNA polymerase II [1]. Regulation of gene expression is controlled by the action of multiple transcription factors that activate or repress transcription through binding to cis-regulatory elements present in the target genes. Identification of functional target gene promoters that are regulated by specific transcription factors and identification of specific upstream regulators of a molecular mechanism are critical for understanding the molecular mechanisms that control signaling events [1,8].

ETS (E Twenty Six) proteins, which are encoded by highly conserved 85 amino acids, form to ETS domain [9]. This domain has 30 members that defined in mammals and it also has several subfamilies. Member of the ETS –domain superfamily have common region with avian erythroblastosis virus (Figure 1.1). ETS-domain transcription factors have crucial roles in development. They can be activators or repressors of signal transduction cascades and these signaling pathways can regulate cellular processes such as proliferation, differentiation in embryonic development and in adults, immune response, apoptosis, migration, metastasis, tissue remodeling, transformation or angiogenesis [10].



Figure 1.1. ETS transcription factor family. (a) Human ETS family and their domain localizations. (b) ETS domain (c) PNT domain (d) GABPA domain [11]

The expression profile of the ETS protein and the presence of the specific domains are the standard features of DNA-binding specificity of the ETS domain [12]. The alterations of the DNA–binding site of ETS proteins result in the different ETS domains. Furthermore, even small changes in the DNA sequences flanking the core consensus, which is coded as GGAA/T, changes the binding affinity of the ETS proteins to DNA [9]. Moreover, NMR analysis showed that these proteins are in helix-turn-helix super family [13]. The conserved ETS domain consists of three α -helix on a small four-stranded, antiparallel β -sheet scaffold (Figure 1.2) [14].



Figure 1.2. Ribbon structure of ETS domain while it is bound to DNA duplex which posses core GGAA. Green color represents carbon and red color represents oxygen and blue color represents nitrogen [11].

ETS-domain transcription factor family involves signal transduction pathways such as Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) mediated phosphorylation. Ternary Complex Factor (TCF) is a subfamily of ETS domain proteins, which show this activity and commonly found to bind promoters in a complex with SRF. Elk-1, SAP-1 and SAP-2/Net, comprise the TCF subfamily of ETS-domain transcription factors. The DNA-binding activity of TCF subfamily of ETS-domain is stimulated by MAP kinase phosphorylation [15]. Mitogenic stimuli are transduced through pathways that terminate in the activation of ERK-1 and ERK-2 MAPKs, whereas cellular stress such as UV irradiation lead to the

activation of the stress-activated kinases SAPK/JNK and p38. A combination of biochemical, molecular biological and genetic approaches have recently demonstrated that the activation of MAPK cascades leads to changes in the activity of many ETS-domain transcription factors; several of which have been demonstrated to be direct MAPK targets. Some of the ETS family, which are nuclear proteins, have nuclear export signals (NES) and also nuclear localization signals (NLS). The phosphorylation of these proteins affects their sub localizations [16].

1.2. PEA3 SUPERFAMILY

PEA3 (Polyoma enhancer activator) subfamily belongs to ETS-domain transcription factor family. This family consists of Pea3, Erm and Er81, which are highly conserved and well characterized proteins. Pea3, Erm and Er81 have human homologous, which are called E1AF, ETV5 and ETV1. ETV5 (Erm) is located on the long arm of chromosome 3 at 3q27-29 [17,18]. E1AF (Pea3) is located on the long arm of chromosome 17 at 17q21 [19] and ETV1 (Er81) is located on the long arm of chromosome 7 at 7q21 [20]. However they localize on different chromosomes, both of them share similar encoding sequences. [16] They possess 95% identical ETS-domain, 85% identical 32 residue acidic domain (AD) and 50% identical carboxyl–terminal tail domain (Ct) [21] (Figure 1.3).



Figure 1.3. Sequence alignment of human Pea3 subfamily [21].

Studies had shown that this highly conserved domains, one in the amino terminal and one in the carboxy terminal, serve as activation domain and are responsible for the transactivation of gene expression. There is also an inhibitory domain resides in the middle, which negatively regulates DNA binding [21] (Figure 1.4).



Figure 1.4. Regulatory domains of Pea3 group ETS transcription factor. AD represents acidic domain, CIDD represents central inhibitory DNA binding domain, ETS represents DNA binding domain, and CT represents carboxy-terminal [21]

The members of PEA3 subfamily are activated by MAP kinases. Both ERK and JNK MAPK cascades have a role in transcriptional activation of PEA3 subfamily [22] (Figure 1.5). It is shown that ERK signaling pathways also significantly enhances ER81 and ERM-mediated transactivation [23]. This finding indicates that all members of this subfamily are regulated by MAP kinases.

Ras is the upstream target of MAPK pathway and the activation of Ras by extracellular signals cause the activation of MAPK. The findings indicate that activated Ras cause an increment on transactivation capacity of Pea3, Erm, Er81. [23,24] Not only Ras but also SEK, which stimulates JNK/SAPK, was shown to increase the transactivation of Pea3 [25]. Although it is known that their N-terminal transcriptional activation domains of these transcription factors control transactivation, it is currently unknown how the activity of members of PEA3 subfamily are enhanced. In spite of having potential MAPK sites, it is not known whether they are direct targets of these pathways or not [23].

Er81 acetylation by Ras/MAPK phosphorylated p300 acetyltransferase increase the transactivation capacity. Sumo modification of Erm negatively regulates the transactivation capacity. On the other hand, sumoylation on lysine residues increase the Er81 transactivation. [26] Sumolyation and acetylation enhance not only Erm, but also the transactivation of Pea3 [27].



Figure 1.5. A model demonstration of transactivation of PEA3 group members via different signal transduction pathways [28].

Pea3 involves in metastatic transformation. In other words, it has long been known as a metastatic marker gene. Phosphorylated Pea3 cause transactivation of metastatic genes. Especially in Her/Neu expressing breast cancer cells and tissues, the expression level of Pea3 is high [29]. Matrix metalloprotease enzymes such as MMP2, MMP9 are the main targets of Pea3. MMP genes are necessary for initiation of cell migration. Overexpression of Pea3 also increases the expression level of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [30], osteopontin [31], the intercellular adhesion molecule ICAM-I, [32] and vimentin. Another cancer type that Pea3 is highly expressed is prostate cancer. The overexpression of Pea3 due to the high level activation of TMPRSS2 promoter results in prostate cancer, [33]. Colorectal tumors [34], human gastric tumors [35], lung adenocarcinomas [36], ovarian [37] and endometrial carcinomas [38] are the cancer types, where Pea3 is overexpressed and involves in the cancer progression.

Pea3 has role in motor neuron innervation on muscles, studies with ER81 and Pea3 were showed that deletion of ER81 interfere with the growth of sensory neurons in the spinal cord but does not affect its projection to the spinal cord. Therefore sensory neurons can reach to the spinal cord but unable to form connections with the motor neurons [39].

Pea3 is not necessary for the normal development of sensory neurons, but Pea3 is crucial for determination of motor pool neuron identity. In the absence of Pea3, motor neurons lost their branching axons through the target muscles. Moreover, they may die because of the lack of functional synapse and hence activation [40].

Pea3 is regulated by neurotropic factor GDNF. Peripheral neurotropic factors are required to induction of Pea3 expression in the motor neurons and this way these motor neurons are able to branch on target muscle [39].

In zebrafish model, Pea3 is important for early development process. FGF signaling pathway regulates Pea3 expression and disruption of this signal transducer system cause to disruption on cardiac and isthmic organizer. In addition, FGF-activate Pea3 has a role in retinal development and ganglion cell differentiation [41].

Pea3 has a role in mammary gland. During early pregnancy, Pea3 promotes the proliferation and differentiation. As a result of this, arborization in mammary gland occurs [42].

1.3. TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR ELK-1

Elk-1 is the member of ETS oncogene family of transcription factors. These phosphoproteins have roles in cell growth, differentiation, survival, hematopoiesis, angiogenesis, wound healing, cancer and inflammation [43]. Elk-1 is the member of TCF family whereas, Ets motif is located in the N terminus of the proteins. TCF family forms a ternary complex with two molecules of Serum Response Factor (SRF) on Serum Response Element (SRE) at c-fos promoter [44].

Elk-1, Sap-1 and Elk-4 is the members of TCF family and they all contain four conserved

domains with high frequency. First conserved domain is the ETS domain. It is located on N- terminal region and it contains motifs of nuclear localization signals (NLS) and nuclear export signal (NES). (Figure1.6) Another conserved domain is the B domain, which is involved in the binding of Elk-1 to a dimer of its cofactor, the SRF and promotes the TCF formation [45]. Another conserved domain is D domain and it contains the docking site for ERK and JNK. These docking sites are critical for binding to MAP Kinases of ERK, JNK and p38. Last conserved domain on Elk-1 is C-terminal domain and it is transcriptional activation domain. There are multiple S/TP motifs targeted by activated MAP Kinases [46,47].



Figure 1.6. Functional domains and major post-translational modifications of the Elk-1 protein [46].

The transcriptional activity of Elk-1 depends on its phosphorylation and it is regulated by MAP Kinase signaling pathway. The three subclasses of MAP kinases, which are ERK, JNK and p38, lead to phosphorylation of Elk-1 [48,49,50,51,52]. Growth factors and mitogens alert ERK, whereas JNK and p38 cascades response to cytokines and stress. The phosphorylation of Elk-1 can occur on nine residues on C-terminal [52] .Two of them are serine 383 and serine 389. They are very critical for activation of Elk-1. Silencing mutation of these residues lead to blockage of Elk-1 by SRE-dependent gene induction [53]. In Elk-1 DEF motifs are phosphorylated by ERK and this phosphorylation causes conformational changes [54].

Elk-1 has role in neurodegenerative disease such as Alzheimer's Disease (AD), Hungtington Disease (HD), Parkinson's Disease (PD). Elk-1 is potent repressor of transcription factor presenilin 1 gene (PS1), and PS1 gene involves in the final step of the sequential proteolytic processing of amyloid precursor protein. Moreover, PS1 is genetically linked to majority cases of early onset of hereditory AD [55]. ERK, Elk-1 and CREB are hyperphosphorylated in the striatum of a transgenic model model of HD [56]. In this mouse model, defiency of MSK-1 expression is only in striatum region of the brain not in the cortex. Restoring MSK-1 expression reversed neuronal dysregulations induced by expanded Htt [56]. Elk-1 ad MSK-1 has neuronal protection in HD. In Parkinson's disease (PD), phosphorylated Elk-1 was detected but the role of Elk-1 is unclear [58].

Elk-1 is also involved in Down syndrome [59], depression [60], learning and memory [61].

1.3.1. Alternative Splicing and Elk-1

Almost all protein-coding genes undergo alternative splicing process. Alternative splicing is a key regulator for eukaryotic gene expression because it increases the coding capacity of human genome. In other words, it increases the usage of genetic information [61]. More than 88% of the encoding genes undergo alternative splicing process [62]. Studies indicate that more than 90% of pre-mRNA is removed as introns and only 10% of pre-mRNA join as exons via RNA splicing and it happens in the nucleus. The cell decides removing of introns or including the alternative exons [63]. Alternative splicing leads to protein isoforms and it gives different biological properties. This difference causes different protein-protein interactions, subcellular localizations, or catalytic abilities [64]. Mapping studies suggest that most alternative exons are in coiled or loop regions that are located on the surface [65].

Alternative splicing leads to some disease such as Spinal Muscular Atrophy (SMA) [66], Hutchinson-Gilford Progeria [67], and cancer [68]. The expression level of alternative or tumor –specific variants may affect cellular responses such as motility, proliferation, and drug response [69]. These responses are also critical for cancer. Changes in the concentration, localization or composition may cause alteration of alternative splicing [70]. Missplicing, point mutations on the splicing site [7] or loss of splicing factors [71] lead to the disease.

The human elk-1 gene has seven exons. The protein is encoded from exon 3 to exon 7. 5'UTR of elk-1 consists of exon 1, exon2 and the first 34 nucleotides of exon3. Elk-1 is found in both the nucleus and the cytoplasm. In one study, a short isoform of elk-1 was detected in the rat brain. Long isoform is a 55kDa protein, but short form is only 45kDa. Moreover, short isoform was firstly identified in the brain, but later short isoform was detected in kidney as well. Short isoform is only found in the nucleus. Furthermore, short form does not have first the 54 amino acids at the N-terminus and many DNA binding domains are located there. It is compromised in its ability to activate SRE genes. In NGF-treated PC12 cells, short isoform of Elk-1 is expressing and the distribution of Elk-1 has similarities between mature brain and NGF-treated PC12 cells. Furthermore, overexpression of sElk-1, but not Elk-1 increased neurite extension in the PC12 model system. [72].

Show/h	ide columns				Filter	
Name 🕴	Transcript ID 👙	Length (bp) 💠	Protein ID	Length (aa) 🔅	Biotype 🕴	CCDS
ELK1-001	ENST0000247161	2695	ENSP00000247161	428	Protein coding	CCDS14283
ELK1-002	ENST0000376983	2258	ENSP00000366182	428	Protein coding	CCDS1428
ELK1-201	ENST0000343894	504	ENSP00000345585	95	Protein coding	CCDS59168
ELK1-005	ENST0000592066	2049	ENSP00000467055	374	Protein coding	-
ELK1-004	ENST0000468956	769	No protein product	-	Processed transcript	-
ELK1-003	ENST00000480157	736	No protein product	-	Processed transcript	-
ExUns SP1: SP2: SP3: SP4:	3: 1a · 1b · 10	2 ^ 2 x · 2 b · - 	^ 3 ^ 4 ^ 5a 	· 5) · 5a ·	5d ^ 6 ^ 7a ·	75 ^ 8

Figure 1.7. Scheme of Alternative Splicing of Elk-1. [It is a screenshot from Ensemble and Genecard databases.]

Transcription factor Elk-1 has 6 alternative splicing forms and only four of them encode protein. First 3 exons forms the UTR of Elk-1 and they do not involve the open reading frame. Two of alternatively spliced forms (1 and 3) encode 428 amino acid, but they have different 5'UTR length. In spliced form 3, absence of exon 2 and partially exon 1 lead to shorter UTR length. Exon 4,5,6,7 and 8 are involved in protein coding for both spliced forms 1 and 3. In spliced form 2, lacking of exon 6, partially exon 5 and exon7 cause

shorter production. This form encodes 95 amino-acids. Alternative spliced form 4 encodes 374 amino acids and it does not have only exon 4 in its ORF and also there is no UTR sequence. (Figure 1.7)



2. MATERIALS

2.1. BIOINFORMATIC TOOLS

Bioinformatic	Purpose	Website
Tools		
Pubmed	Database where sequences of	http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed
	genes can be retrieved	
IDT Oligo	Where primers can be design	http://eu.idtdna.com/analyzer/applications/o
Analyzer	and ordered	ligoanalyzer/
Primer	Database where primers can be	http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/tools/primer-
BLAST	align	blast/
SDSC	Give serves with several tools	http://workbench.sdsc.edu
Biology		
Finch TV	To rewiev sequencing results	http://www.geospiza.com/Products/finchtv.
		shtml

Table 2.1 Bioinformatics tools that were utilized in the thesis

2.2. CELL CULTURE

2.2.1. Cell Lines

- A172 Human Glioblastoma Cell Line
- HEK-293 Human Embryonic Kidney Cell Line
- SH-SY5Y Human Neuroblastoma Cell Line
- U87 Human Glioblastoma Cell Line

2.2.2. Cell Culture Maintaining Medium and Supplements

• Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) 1g/L Glucose (Gibco)

- Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) 4,5g/L Glucose (Gibco)
- Fetal Bovine Serum (Gibco)
- Penicillin/Streptomycin/Amphotericin B (100X) (Kibbytz Beit Haemek)
- 0.5% Tyrpsin-EDTA (Sigma)
- Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (Lonza)

2.2.3. Cell Culture Maintaining Plates

- T25 Tissue Culture Flasks (Corning)
- T75 Tissue Culture Flasks (Corning)
- 100mm x 20mm Tissue Culture Dish (Corning)

2.3. BACTERIAL ASSAYS

2.3.1. Bacterial Asaay Reagents and Equipments

- Luria-Bertani(LB) Broth (Sigma)
- Luria Bertani (LB) Agar (Sigma)
- Ampicillin (Biomatik)
- Petri Plates (Isolab)
- 100 mMCaCl₂ solution

2.3.2. Bacterial Strains

- JM109 (Promega)
- BL21 (Promega)

2.4. PLASMIDS

A commercially available empty plasmid vector and several cloned plasmid construct were used in this study.

- PGEX-4T-2 empty plasmid (GE Health Care) (Figure 2.1)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 mPea3 wild type construct
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S90A mutant construct
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S90E mutant construct
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S101A mutant construct
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S101E mutant construct
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S143A mutant construct
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S143E mutant construct
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S458A mutant construct
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S458E mutant construct





2.5. GST PULL DOWN ASSAY

2.5.1. PCR Amplification of mPea3 Mutants

- pCMV-3Tag-6 mPea3 wild type construct (100ng)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S90A mutant construct (100ng)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S90E mutant construct (100ng)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S101A mutant construct (100ng)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S101E mutant construct (100ng)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S143A mutant construct (100ng)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S143E mutant construct (100ng)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S458A mutant construct (100ng)
- pCMV-3Tag-6 S458E mutant construct (100ng)
- Long PCR Enzyme (Thermo)
- 10mM dNTP mix (Sigma)
- 10X Long PCR Buffer with 15mM MgCI₂ (Thermo)
- DMSO (Thermo)
- Nuclease Free Water
- Forward and Reverse Primers (Table 2.2)
- Bio-radThermocycler
- Agarose (Sigma)
- Ethidium Bromide (Promega)
- 6X Loading Dye (Intron)
- ChemiDoc Imaging System (Bio-RAD)
- PCR Purification Kit (Invitrogen)

Table 2.2. Primer couples designed to clone mPea3 mutants into PGEX-4T-2 vector. Red sequence indicates the BamHI recognition site, whereas blue sequence indicate EcoRI recognition site here.

pGEX-4T-2 Forward Primer	5' - AGAC GGATCC TGG AGC GGA GGA
	TGA AAG GC - 3'
pGEX-4T-2 Reverse Primer	5' - AGAC GAATTC CTA GTA AGA ATA
	TCC ACC TC - 3'

2.5.2. Digestion and Ligation of PCR Amplicons and pGEX-4T-2 Empty Vector

- PCR products purified from the previous step
- pGEX-4T-2 empty vector
- EcoR I and BamH I restriction enzyme and 10 X Buffer (Fermentas)
- RNase-free water
- PCR purification Kit (invitrogen)
- T4 ligase and 10X Buffer (NEB)

2.6. PROTEIN ASSAY

2.6.1 SDS Page and Western Blot

- Whole protein lysates from HEK293, A172, SH-SY5Y and U87 cell lines
- RIPA Buffer
- Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail
- Protease Inhibitor Cocktail
- 100mM DTT
- Bradford Reagent (Sigma)
- 40%/0.8% Acrylamide/Bis Acrylamide Solution
- 1M Tris-Cl Buffer at pH 6.8
- 1.5M Tris-Cl pH 8.9
- 10% SDS
- 10% APS

- Temed
- 4X Protein Loading Dye (Bio-Rad)
- Broad Range Ladder (Santa Cruz)
- Bio-Rad Semi-Dry Blotting Device
- Nitrocelluose membrane (Roche)
- 1X TBS and 1X TBS-T
- Commasie Blue (Sigma)
- Ponceu S (Chem Cruz)
- Blocking Buffer (5% skimmed milk in TBS-T)
- Primary Antibodies: rabbit anti-Elk-1 polyclonal (Santa Cruz),
- Secondary antibody: goat anti-rabbit (Cell Signaling)
- ECL Western Blotting Substrate Kit (Intron)
- Bio-Rad ChemiDoc Imaging System

2.6.2. GST-Pull Down Assay

- IPTG
- NET Buffer (10mM Tris.Cl [pH:8], 1 mM EDTA, 100mM NaCl, 1x protease inhibitor cocktail)
- Photospectrometer Device

2.7. EXPRESSION LEVEL ASSAYS

- RNA isolation kit (Invitrogen)
- cDNA synthesis kit (Applied Biosystems)
- I-taq Enzyme mix (Intron)

Alternative Splicing Forward 1	5'ATGGACCCATCTGTGACGCTG 3'
Alternative Splicing Forward 11	5'CATGAATTACGACAAGCTCAGCC3'
Alternative Splicing Reverse I	5'ACATTTGGCATGGTGGAGGTAAC
	2'
	5
Alternative Splicing Reverse II	5' AAGCTCTTCCGATTTCAGGTTT 3'

Table 2.3. Primer couples designed to indicate alternative splicing form of Elk-1.

Table 2.4. GAPDH Primer couple

GAPDH Forward	5' GCATTGCTGATGATCTTGAGG 3'
GAPDH Reverse	5' TCGGAGTCAACGGATTTGG 3'

ATGGACCCATCTGTGACGCTGTGGCAGTTTCTGCTGCAGCTGCTGAGAGAGC
AAGGCAATGGCCACATCATCTCCTGGACTTCACGGGATGGTGGTGAATTCAAG
CTGGTGGATGCAGAGGAGGTGGCCCGGCTGTGGGGGGCTACGCAAGAACAAGAC
CAACATGAATTACGACAAGCTCAGCCGGGCCTTGCGGTACTACTATGACAAG
AACATCATCCGCAAGGTGAGCGGCCAGAAGTTCGTCTACAAGTTTGTGTCCTA
CCCTGAGGTCGCAGGGTGCTCCACTGAGGACTGCCCGCCC
CT <mark>GTTACCTCCACCATGCCAAATGT</mark> GGCCCCTGCTGCTATACATGCCGCCCCA
GGGGACACTGTCTCTGGAAAGCCAGGCACACCCAAGGGTGCAGGAATGGCAGG
CCCAGGCGGTTTGGCACGCAGCAGCCGGAACGAGTACATGCGCTCGGGCCTCT
ATTCCACCTTCACCATCCAGTCTCTGCAGCCGCAGCCACCCCCTCATCCTCGG
CCTGCTGTGGTGCTCCCCAGTGCAGCTCCTGCAGGGGCAGCAGCGCCCCCCTC
GGGGAGCAGGAGCACCAGTCCAAGCCCCTTGGAGGCCTGTCTGGAGGCTGAAG
AGGCCGGCTTGCCTCTGCAGGTCATCCTGACCCCGCCCGAGGCCCC
AAATCGGAAGAGCTTAATGTGGAGCCGGGTTTGGGCCGGGCTTTGCCCCCAGA
AGTGAAAGTAGAAGGGCCCCAAGGAAGAGTTGGAAGTTGCGGGGGGAGAGAGGGGT
TTGTGCCAGAAACCACCAAGGCCGAGCCAGAAGTCCCTCCACAGGAGGGCGTG
CCAGCCCGGCTGCCCGCGGTTGTTATGGACACCGCAGGGCAGGCGGGCG
TGCGGCTTCCAGCCCTGAGATCTCCCAGCCGCAGAAGGGCCGGAAGCCCCGGG
ACCTAGAGCTTCCACTCAGCCCGAGCCTGCTAGGTGGGCCGGGACCCGAACGG
ACCCCAGGATCGGGAAGTGGCTCCGGCCTCCAGGCTCCGGGGCCGGCGCTGAC
CCCATCCCTGCTTCCTACGCATACATTGACCCCGGTGCTGCTGACACCCAGCT
CGCTGCCTCCTAGCATTCACTTCTGGAGCACCCTGAGTCCCATTGCGCCCCGT
AGCCCGGCCAAGCTCTCCTTCCAG <mark>TTTCCATCCAGTGGCAGCGC</mark> CCAGGTGCA
CATCCCTTCTATCAGCGTGGATGGCCTCTCGACCCCCGTGGTGCTCTCCCCAG
GGCCCCAGAAGCCATGA

Figure 2.2. Primer alignment for alternative splicing of Elk-1.

Blue letters represent alternate sequences. Primer couples were designed according to these sequences. Forward 1 primer is highlighted with blue and forward 2 primer is highlighted with purple. Reverse primer 1 is indicated by yellow, reverse primer 2 is highlighted with green and lastly, reverse primer 3 is indicated by red.



3. METHOD

3.1. PREPARATION OF MUTANT PLASMID CONSTRUCTS

3.1.1. Insert Preparation

First step of cloning is amplification of insert by PCR. Each insert was prepared according to Table 3.1.

Component	Volume
Template	1 µl
10X Buffer	5 µl
dNTPs (10 mM each)	1 µl
pGEX Forward Primer	0,6 µl
pGEX Reverse Primer	0.6 µl
DMSO	2 µl
Long enzyme	0.3 µl
Water	μΙ
Total	50 µl

Table 3.1. Ingredients of the PCR	

PCR reaction was carried out at an annealing temperature of 56 °C (Table 3.2). PCR amplicons were run in 1% Et-Br stained agarose gel and visualized with Bio-rad Chemidoc Imaging system. Amplicons were purified with PCR purification kit (Invitrogen).
	Temperature	Duration	# of
			Cycle
Initial Denaturation	94°C	2 min.	1 cycle
Denaturation	94°C	20 sec.	40
Annealing	56°C	30 sec.	cycles
Extension	68°C	1.5 min.	
Final Extension	68°C	10 min.	1 cycle

Table 3.2	. PCR	steps	for j	pGEX	forward	and	pGEX	reverse	primers
-----------	-------	-------	-------	------	---------	-----	------	---------	---------

3.1.2. Double Digestion with BamH I and EcoR I Restriction Enzymes

For double digestion, each sample was prepared according to Table 3.2.

Table 3.3	. Double	digestion	reaction of	of wild	type and	mutant	Pea3 and	pGEX-4T-2	vector
14010 5.5		angebulon	100001011	01 1114	cype and	macante	i vas ana	POLITIE	

Ingredients	Volume
Insert / Vector	Varies
BamH I Restriction Enzyme	1 µl
EcoR I Restriction Enzyme	1 μl
10X FastDigest Buffer	2 µl
dH ₂ O	up to 20 µl

The mixture was incubated for 1 hour at 37 °C. DNA sequences were purified with PCR purification kit. In order to understand digestion was successful, digested plasmid sample was run on the 1% agarose gel, because plasmids are in circular form and after digestion process they become linear. Because of this property, the success of digestion can be understood depending on the band number.

3.1.3. Ligation of PCR Product and pGEX-4T-2 Vector

Only 1:3 (vector: insert) reaction was carried out. The ligation reaction was incubated at room temperature for 15minutes. (Table 3.4)

Components	Volumes
10X Buffer	2 µl
Insert	Varies
Vector	Varies
T4	1 µl
dH ₂ O	Up to 20 µl

Table 3.4. Ligation reaction components and volumes

For calculation of insert and vector amounts, the equation below was used:

Insert (ng)=[lenght of insert/ lenght of vector x amount of vector (ng)]x(insert:vector ratio)

3.1.4. Preparation of Competent Cells

JM109 cells were inoculated in 10mL LB broth and incubated at 37 ° C for overnight. On the following day 49 mL fresh LB broth and 1 mL inoculum were mixed and incubated on 37 ° C shaker incubator for 3 hours. At the end of the 3 hours, cells were centrifuged at 5500 rpm for 10 minutes. Supernatant was removed and pellet was resuspended with 5 mL ice-cold CaCI₂. It was incubated for 1 hour on ice and then it was centrifuged at 3500 rpm for 5 minutes. Pellet was resuspended with 1 mL CaCI₂. Competent cells were kept on +4 ° C.

3.1.5. Transformation

LB agar and LB broth medium were prepared according to manufacturer's orders. LB agar plates were poured with 25 μ l ampicillin addition. 50 μ l competent cells and 3 μ l ligation product were mixed and incubated for 15 minutes on ice. Then tubes were incubated 1.5

minutes at 37 ° C and 2 minutes on ice. 200 μ l LB broth was immediately added to tubes and mixtures were incubated in 37 ° C shaker incubator for 1 hour. After incubation, all mixture was spread on agar plates. Plates were placed in 37 ° C incubator for overnight incubation. Following day, positive colonies were collected. Each positive colony was inoculated in fresh LB broth with ampicillin for overnight. The following day, plasmid isolation was carried out in order to obtain plasmids.

3.1.6. Screening with Restriction Enzyme

Double digestion was carried out for screening procedure. (Table 3.5)

Components	Volumes
10X Buffer	2 μl
Template	Varies
BamH I	1 µl
EcoR I	1 µl
dH ₂ O	Up to 20 µl

Table 3.5 Ingredients of restriction enzyme screening

Screening process is necessary for controlling of positive colonies. With this method, whether the insert is placed into multiple cloning sites of the vector or not can be figure out. After digestion with restriction enzymes, products were run on 1% agarose gel and depending on the band size, products were sent to sequencing analysis. The sequencing analysis was carried out by GATC company.

3.1.7. Evaluation of the Cloned Gene Sequence

After promoters were amplified by PCR with the appropriate target primers and cloned into vector plasmids, they were sent to commercial sequencing in order to prove that they had the correct sequence as noted in the bioinformatic resources. The results of the analyses were converted to nucleotide sequences using FinchTV DNA sequencing chromatogram trace viewer and comparison of sequences were done by utilizing the SDSC Biology WorkBench (http://workbench.sdsc.edu/) bioinformatics tool, the wild type and the phosphor-mutant sequences were aligned.

3.2. GST-PULL DOWN ASSAY

3.2.1. Bacterial Expression of GST-Fused Proteins

To produce GST-fusion proteins, BL21-pGEX transformants were inoculated in 50 ml ampicillin containing LB broth and it was incubated at at 37°C rotary shaker overnight. 450 ml fresh LB broth containing ampicillin was added and incubated at 37 C rotary shaker until the OD ₆₀₀ reached 0.2-0.4. The expression of GST-fusion protein was induced by the addition of IPTG. Induced cells were cultured for a further 0-6 hours (t=0,1,2,4,6 hours) and centrifuged at 5500rpm for 10 minutes at 4 °C. The pellet was resuspended in 1 ml ice-cold NET-Buffer. It was incubated on dry ice for 10 minutes, thawed on ice and then they were treated with DNase I. The mixture was centrifuged at maximum speed for 15 minutes. Proteins were loaded on SDS-PAGE.

3.2.2. Preparation of SDS-PAGE

Resolving gel (10%) was poured and waited until all gel solidify (Table 3.6).

Ingredients	Volumes
40% acrylamide/bis-acrylamide	3,2 ml
1,5M Tris (pH:8.8)	2,5ml
SDS (10%)	100µl
APS (10%)	100 µl
TEMED	4 µl
dH ₂ O	4 ml

Table 3.6 Ingredients of resolving gel

Then resolving gel, stacking gel(5%) was poured to obtain good protein separation (Table 3.7).

Ingredients	Volumes
40% acrylamide/bis-acrylamide	300 µl
1M Tris (pH:6.8)	380 µl
SDS (10%)	30µl
APS (10%)	30 µl
TEMED	3 µl
dH ₂ O	2,1 ml

Table 3.7 Ingredients of stacking gel

The comb was placed and waited until all gel solidifies. The gel was placed into running tank. Protein samples were loaded in SDS-PAGE gel and run at constant voltage around 2 hours. (First 30 minutes 100V, later 150V). At the end of 2 hours, gel cast was splitted and gel was removed from the glass holders and washed with distilled water for two times. Gel was stained with Coomassie Blue. Gel was washed twice with distilled water for 1 hour to remove all extra stain. The gel was visualized with Bio-RAD chemi-doc device.

3.3. ALTERNATIVE SPLING ASSAYS

3.3.1. RNA Isolation and cDNA Synthesis

A172, HEK-293,SH-SY5Y and U87 cell lines were used for this experiment. From each cell line, 2 million cells were harvested and washed with PBS twice. Later total RNA isolation was carried out with RNA isolation kit (Invtrogen) according to manufacturer's order. Later, cDNA was synthesized according to protocol below Table 3.8, Table 3.9 and Table 3.10).

Ingredient	volumes
RNA	varies
dH ₂ O	Up to 10 µl

Table 3.8	Ingredients	of RT	mix
	L		

Ingredient	Volume
10 X Buffer	2 µl
25X dNTP	0.8 µl
10X RT Random Primers	2 µl
Reverse Transcriptase	1 µl
dH ₂ O	4.2 µl
RT mix	10 µl

Table 3.9 Ingredients for cDNA synthesis

Table 3.10. cDNA synthesis conditions

Temperature	Time
25 °C	10 minutes
37 °C	120 minutes
85 °C	5 minutes

3.3.2. PCR Analysis of Alternative Splicing

cDNAs were used for expression analysis. Firstly, they were used as a template with GAPDH primers for optimization. Until all of them have equal expression level, this process was repeated. After optimization, PCR with different alternative primers were carried out.

Components	Volume
Template	Varies
10X Buffer	2 µl
dNTP (2,5mM each)	2 µl
Forward Primer	0,6 µl
Reverse Primer	0,6 µl
i-taq	0,2 μl
dH ₂ O	Up to 20µl

Table 3.11. PCR ingredients for expression analysis

Table 3.12. Cycling parameters for PCR

		Product Size			# of
	Temperature	100-500bp	500-1000bp	1bk-5kb	Cycle
Initial Denaturation	94°C	2 min	2 min	2 min	1 cycle
Denaturation	94 °C	20 sec	20 sec	20 sec	25
Annealing	Varies	10sec	10 sec	20 sec	cvcles
Extension	72 °C	30 sec	50 sec	1min/kb	•) • 1 • 2
Final Extension	72 °C	5 minutes		1 cycle	

Different annealing temperature and extension temperature were used depends on the product sizes (Table 3.12)

Table 3.13. Annealing temperatures for GAPDH and alternative splicing primers

Primer Couples	Annealing Temperature	Product Size
GAPDH F+R	50 °C	400 bp
ASF1+ASR1	53 °C	341 bp
ASF1+ ASR3	55 °C	1047 bp
ASF2+ASR2	55 °C	1208 bp
ASF2+ASR2	65 °C	541 bp

In order to analyze the results obtained from gel electrophoresis imaging, firstly, normalization of each band belonging to different primer pairs were carried by taking the GAPDH bands as basement value. For that purpose, average density values of each band were measured using the QuantityOne software program. Each band density values of primer pairs were divided by the values of GAPDH band densities, and this calculation was repeated for all cell lines separately. In order to represent the relative folding amounts of PCR products, these calculated ratios of the ones, produced in different cell lines by using same primer pairs, were compared with respect to the least value.

3.3.3. Western Blotting Analysis

3.3.3.1. Preparation of Cell Lysate

2 million cells were harvested with trypsin-EDTA and then washed with PBS twice. Pellet was resuspended with 200 μ l lysis buffer (1X RIPA Buffer, 1X Protease Inhibitor Cocktail, 1X Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail, 100mM DTT). It was incubated for 30 minutes on ice and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 15000 rpm. Supernatant was collected. Protein concentrations of each whole protein lysates were calculated with Bradford assay. 30 μ g protein was loaded to SDS-PAGE.

3.3.3.2. SDS-PAGE and Western Blotting

Each protein sample was mixed with loading dye and incubated at 100 °C for 5 minutes and cooled on ice. Later, protein samples were loaded in SDS-PAGE gel and run at constant voltage around 2 hours. (First 30 minutes 100V later 150V). At the end of 2 hours, gel cast was splitted and gel was removed from the glass holders and washed with distilled water for two times. Transfer of proteins from the gel to nitrocellulose membrane was done by Bio-Rad Semi-Dry Blotting device at 25V for 10 minutes. Successful transfers were visualized with Ponceau S solution and remaining protein in the gel with Commesie Blue solution. Nitrocellulose membrane was washed with distilled water until all Ponceau S stain was removed. Membrane was blocked with 5% skimmed milk powder in TBS-T for 1 hour. Primary antibody was diluted in 1X TBS-T skimmed milk solution and incubated overnight at 4°C with gentle agitation. Membrane was washed with TBS-T twice and once TBS. Later secondary antibody, which is diluted in 1X TBS-T skimmed milk, was incubated for 1 hour at room temperature and membrane was washed with TBS-T twice and then once with TBS. Membrane was developed with ECL reagent and visualized with Bio-Rad Chemi-doc Chemiluminenscent Imaging System.

4. RESULTS

4.1. Alternative Splicing of Elk-1

4.1.1. Primer Optimization for Alternative Splicing Primer

According to Ensemble database, for the Open Reading Frame (ORF) of Elk-1, there are two alternative sequences. Primer couples were designed to cover these alternative sequences. For this reason 2 forward and 3 reverse primer were designed. Primers were analyzed in IDT Oligo-analyzer program and then blasted with NCBI.

The first step is determining the annealing temperature of primer couples. In order to determine annealing temperature of primers, gradient PCR was carried out. There is an additional step, gradient PCR were also carried out with repeated two different cell lines, which were SH-SY5Y (neurablastoma) and U87 (gliablastoma). For each primer couple, this procedure was repeated. (Figure 4.1)



Figure 4.1. An example of Gradient PCR result. Yellow rectangle shows the optimum annealing temperature. Only one representative primer optimization result is shown here.

4.1.2. PCR Analysis of Alternative Splicing Elk-1

Glyceraldehyde 3- phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) is one of the commonly used housekeeping genes, and it is generally used for normalization of expression. In this experiment, GAPDH was used as as our internal control and all normalizations were carried out using GAPDH primers. In all cell lines, expression levels of GAPDH was equalized and then further analysis was carried out. The same amount of template was used for other PCR as used with GAPDH primers.



Figure 4.2. Scheme of different primer pairs used to determine alternative splicing isoforms of Elk-1 reported in Ensemble database.

In figure 4.2 and table 4.1 shows the primer pairs and PCR products of these primer couples.

	SP1	SP2	SP3	SP4
ASF1+ASR1	341 bp	341 bp	341 bp	No product
ASF2+ASR2	541bp	No product	541bp	No product
ASF1+ASR3	1208 bp	No product	1208 bp	No product
ASF2+ASR3	1047 bp	No product	1047 bp	No product

Table 4.1. Alternative splicing products of primer couples

Alternative splicing form 1 and 3 have the same coding sequences, but they have different UTR length so all primer couples give the same results for both alternative splicing forms in PCR amplifications. For alternative splicing form 2, F1 & R1 primers gives 341 base pair product, but other primer couples give no product as sequences exist between F1 &

R1, and for the rest there are no sequences being covered by all primers. Alternative splicing form 4 starts in exon 4 and F1 and F2 are staying in exon 3. Therefore primers cannot give PCR products for alternative splicing form 4.

When A172 human glioblastoma, HEK293 human embryonic kidney, SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma and U87 human glioblastoma cells were analyzed for expression of Elk-1 message, all cells were shown to express only the long form of Elk-1, albeit to different levels. Any alternative form was not detected in our analyses. PCR analysis was repeated two times and the same result was obtained.



Figure 4.3. PCR analysis of alternative splicing Elk-1

As described in 3.3.2, the calculation of the folding amounts of PCR products amplified by using same primer pairs in different cell lines gave the values shown in Figure 4.4.

		F1&R1	b.		F2&R2
A17	2	1.4 fold		A172	1.1 fold
HEK-	293	1.9 fold		HEK-293	1.2 fold
SH-SY	25Y	1		SH-SY5Y	1
U81	7	1.3 fold		U87	1.2 fold
U87	7	1.3 fold F1&R3	[U87	1.2 fold F2&R3
	7	1.3 fold F1&R3 1.1 fold	d. [U87	1.2 fold F2&R3
U8"	7 72 -293	1.3 fold F1&R3 1.1 fold 1.2 fold	d. [U87 A172 HEK-293	1.2 fold F2&R3 1.1 fold 1.2 fold
U8 A1 HEK SH-S	7 72 -293 ¥5¥	1.3 fold F1&R3 1.1 fold 1.2 fold 1	d. [U87 A172 HEK-293 SH-SY5Y	1.2 fold F2&R3 1.1 fold 1.2 fold 1

Figure 4.4. Calculated folding values for PCR products obtained by using a. F1&R1, b. F2&R2, c. F1&R3 and d. F2&R3 primer pairs, independently, from A172, HEK293, SH-SY5Y and U87 cell lines

In each primer couple, SH-SY5Y cells possess lowest Elk-1 expression in mRNA level and also HEK-293 cells have highest Elk-1 expression respectively.

4.1.3. Western Blot Analysis

PCR analysis results were then confirmed with Western blot analysis. In a parallel set of experiments, protein lysates of each cell line were obtained and used in Western blot analysis. First, anti-βtubulin antibody was used as an internal control and normalization. Later, anti-Elk-1 antibody was used for detecting levels of Elk-1 protein in different cell lysates. Surprisingly, in Western blot analysis, short isoform was also detected in SH-SY5Y and HEK 293 cell lines in addition to the long Elk-1. Western Blot analysis was repeated 3 times and same results were obtained. It should be noted that this short Elk-1 species is not an alternative splicing isoform, but an alternative translation product, hence it can only be detected by protein analysis. (Figure 4.5)



Figure 4.5. Western blotting results

In Western Blot analysis, both short and long forms of Elk-1 were detected. In HEK-293 and SH-SY5Y cell lines, besides long form, the short form exists. In PCR analysis, only long form of Elk-1 was observed at all cell lines. Any absence of alternate sequence was detected.

4.2. Wildtype and Phosphor-mutant GST-PEA3 Expression

4.2.1. Preparation of Wildtype and Phosphor-mutant GST-PEA3 Fusion Proteins

Previously in our laboratory, potential phosphorylation sites (Figure 4.6) were identified bioinformatically, and phosphor-mutants and phosphor-mimics for all possible MAPK phosphorylation motifs on mouse Pea3 were generated for mammalian expression systems. In phosphorylation defective mutants, all potential MAPK target Serines were converted to Alanine through site-directed mutagenesis, and similarly for phosphor-mimic mutagenesis Serines were converted to Glutamic acid. In this study, all these phosphor-mutants and phospho-mimics were sub-cloned into pGEX plasmid for bacterial expression, intended for future protein-protein interaction and kinase assays. Our ultimate purpose is to identify which of the possible upstream signals regulate Pea3 through phosphorylation of which specific motif, with respect to transcriptional activity and neuronal differentiation.



Figure 4.6. Predicted phosphorylation sites of mouse Pea3. Transactivation domain at the N terminal (TADn) and at the C terminal (TADc), negative regulation region (NRR) and ETS domain are shown in this figure.

4.2.1.1. Preperation of Inserts

Mutated Pea3 products were PCR-amplified, processed and then cloned from pCMV-Flag into pGEX-4T-2 plasmid. Same primer couple (forward and reverse) was used for all mutants during cloning.



Figure 4.7. PCR amplification of Pea3 mutants from pCMV-Flag backbone templates.

PCR products (Figure 4.7 and Figure 4.8) were run in the 1% agarose gel and then mPea3, S90A, S101A, S101E, S143A, S143E and S458E products were purified. After purification step, concentrations of elutes were calculated respectively (Table 4.2). Only mPea3, S101A and S101E products were found to have high enough concentration for further restriction digestion step for cloning (data not shown).



Figure 4.8. PCR amplification mPea3 wild-type phosphor mutants of mPea3 wild-type phosphor mutants

PCR procedure was repeated for S90A, S90E, S458A and S458E mutants. PCR products were run in the 1% agarose gel and then all of them were purified with PCR purification kit. The concentrations of PCR products were measured with Nanospectrophotometer.

Purified PCR products (insert) and pGEX-4T-2 (plasmid) were double digested with BamH I and EcoR I restriction enzyme. And then all of them were purified with PCR purification kit and the concentrations were measured with Nanospectrophotometer.

Samples	PCR Amplification	Double digestion	
	Product	Products	
mPea3	58,5ng/µl	19,5 ng/µl	
S90A	52 ng/µl	15,5 ng/µl	
S90E	36 ng/µl	30,5 ng/µl	
S101A	48,5 ng/µl	15,5 ng/µl	
S101E	44 ng/µl	14 ng/µl	
S458E	46,5 ng/µl	13,5 ng/µl	
pGEX-4T-2	-	7,5 ng/µl	

 Table 4.2. Concentration values of PCR Amplification Product and Double Digestion

 Products

According to their base number and concentration ratio, the amount of Pea3 mutants products and vector were calculated (ideally, a 3:1 insert:vector ratio was aimed for), and ligation was done to ligate mutate products with pGEX-4T-2 plasmid. After ligation process, transformation was done with ligation products. Colonies were collected and plasmid isolation was carried out.

4.2.1.2 Screening of GST-Pea3 Plasmids

After plasmid isolation, restriction enzyme screening was carried out in order to understand whether insert is localized in the multiple cloning site of the plasmid or not. There was no need for orientation confirmation because of utilizing two different restriction enzyme digestion.



Figure 4.9. Screening results of wild-type Pea3, S101A, S101E

Upper band (4900bp) represent the vector and lower band (1500bp) is the insert. All constructs were found to have wildtype and mutant Pea3 inserts. (If the construct were not to contain any insert, only a single band would be seen).



Figure 4.10. Screening results of GST-mPea3-S90A mutant.

In Figure 4.10, pink arrows represent insert containing plasmids. They were selected for sequencing.



Figure 4.11. Screening results of GST-mPea3-S90E mutant.

In Figure 4.11, blue arrows represent true recombinants. They were selected for sequencing.



Figure 4.12. Screening results of GST-mPea3-S458E mutant

In Figure 4.12, yellow arrows represent insert containing plasmids. They were selected for sequencing.

Insert containing vectors were sequenced. Wild-type and mutant sequences were compared with sequences in NCBI.



Figure 4.13. A representative example of sequencing data

DNA sequencing was done by GATC company as a service provider. The results were provided in *ab1* format and was analyzed through its specific software, Finch TV (http://www.geospiza.com/finchtv/help/pages/A-Introduction/04-QuickStart.shtml). (Figure 4.13)

The sequences from Finch TV were then analyzed in SDSC Biology Workbench databased tool (http://workbench.sdsc.edu). Using the alignment tool of Biology Workbench, wildtype and mutant Pea3 sequences were aligned, mutagenesis was confirmed, and clones were amplified and stored for further analyses.

4.2.2. Expression Optimization of Wild-type and Mutant Pea3 GST Plasmids

GST-Pea3 mutants were transformed into BL21 competent cell and 50 ml of overnight culture of pGEX plasmid was started with LB broth containing 200 µg ampicillin. 450 ml

fresh medium was added and incubated on 37° C rotary shaker, and when OD₆₀₀ reached 0.3 GST expression was induced with 200 μ M IPTG addition. 1 ml samples were collected at t=0, t=1 hr, t=2 hrs, t=4 hrs and t=6 hrs. Samples were then lysed and DNase I treated as explained in Methods, and lysates were loaded onto 10 % SDS-PAGE gel for analysis (Figure 4.14, Figure 4.15, Figure 4.16, Figure 4.17).



Figure 4.14. Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPea3 (wildtype). Blue rectangle represents maximum expression time-point. Yellow arrowhead shows 97kDa size marker.

30 µl sample of GST-mPea3 (wild-type) was loaded in each well and the best expression was observed at 6hours. (Figure 4.14)



Figure 4.15. Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPea3-S101E. Yellow rectangle represents maximum expression time-point. Yellow arrowhead shows 97kDa size marker.

 $30 \ \mu$ l sample of GST-mPea3-S101E was loaded in each well and the best expression was observed at 6hours. (Figure 4.15)



Figure 4.16. Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPea3-S90E. Pink rectangle represent maximum expression time-point.

 $30 \ \mu$ l sample of GST-mPea3-S90E was loaded in each well and the best expression was observed at 4 hours. (Figure 4.16)



Figure 4.17. Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPea3-S101A. Yellow rectangle represents maximum expression time-point.

 $30 \ \mu$ l sample of GST-mPea3-S101A was loaded in each well and the best expression was observed at 6hours. (Figure 4.17)



Figure 4.18. Bacterial expression optimization of IPTG induced GST-mPEA3-S458E. Yellow rectangle represents maximum expression time-point.

 $30 \ \mu$ l sample of GST-mPea3-S458E was loaded in each well and the best expression was observed at 6hours. (Figure 4.18)

These GST-mPEA3 fusions will be used in protein-protein interaction as well as kinase assays in the future.

5. DISCUSSION

Elk-1 belongs to TCF subfamily, whose members are part of the ETS transcription factors, which involve in differentiation, development, transformation and cellular proliferation. When they are activated they form a ternary complex with SRF on SRE of the c-fos promoter In postmitotic neurons, Elk-1 is detected in both the nucleus and cytoplasm, including neuritic extensions. While studying the localization of Elk-1 in the rat brain, an isoform sELK-1 (*short* Elk-1) was identified. This 45 kDa protein was expressed uniquely in brain tissue and was exclusively nuclear. The 54 amino-acid N-terminal deletion removes most of the DNA binding domain, explaining why it is compromised in its ability to activate SRE genes. Moreover, with deletion of the first 54-amino acid, short isoform of Elk-1 loses its Nuclear Export Signal (NES). Curiously, in nerve growth factor (NGF)-treated PC12 cells, sElk-1 protein expression was turned on, and this correlated with the redistribution of Elk-1into the cytoplasm. This distribution was similar with mature brain. In addition, the morphology resembles synaptic neurons. Furthermore, overexpression of sElk-1 but not Elk-1 increased neurite extension in the PC12 model system.

In this study, we aimed to identify the alternative splicing forms of the transcription factor Elk-1 in different cell lines. In some studies, different alternatively splicing forms were indicated but all of them based on 5'UTR of Elk-1. We want to show alternative splicing form in Elk-1 open reading frame (ORF). According to Ensemble database Elk-1 has six alternative spliced forms, but only four of them encodes of protein. In addition, Elk-1 has two alternate sequences as well. The primer pairs were design based on these alternate sequences. Spliced form 1 and spliced form 3 have the same amino acid number but they have different UTR length. The primer which was cover the UTR were not designed, so spliced form 1 and spliced form 3 were not separate each other. In spliced form 3 has 95 amino acid and only one primer couple, which were F1 and R1, give PCR product. One primer couple is insufficient to detect an alternative splicing form. One additional primer couple should be designed. In alternative spliced form 4 starts in different start codon. Any primer couple can amplify the spliced form 4 so new primer couple should be designed. I In PCR analysis, it cannot be analyzed clearly. Any alternative spliced form 1 or spliced

form 3. On the other hand, short isoform of Elk-1 was detected clearly in Western Blotting analysis. In SH-SY5Y and HEK293 cell lines, short isoform of Elk-1 was detected. In literature, short isoform was indicated in the rat brain but in this study, short isoform was indicated in HEK-293 (embryonic kidney). However mRNA level of Elk-1 is highly low, Elk-1 has the highest protein expression. In further study, primary brain tumor cells will be used and it will give more clear results rather than cell line study.

Elk-1 has role in many diseases such as Alzheimer's disease, Huntington's disease and Parkinson's disease. Identification of spliced form of Elk-1 will help us focus on new strategies for neurodegenerative disease.

Pea3 belongs to PEA3 subfamily with Erm and Er81. This ETS-domain transcription factor is known to play a critical role in axonal branching, axonal migration and cell migration. Most of the ETS-domain transcription factors have post-translational modifications to regulate their transactivations as Pea3 subfamily members have. The most common modification is the phosphorylation and it was induced by MAPK pathway. Until now, the specific phosphorylation sites of Er81 and Erm were done but there is no such phosphorylation mapping for Pea3.

Previously in our lab, the phosphorylation sites, where MAPK kinase phosphorylates Pea3, were determined and two different mutation series were constructed. In one series, serine amino acid was converted to alanine amino acid at the predicted serine/pro sites. With this mutation, the phosphorylation of that docking site is blocked. In the other series, serine amino acid is converted to glutamic acid at the same residues and this mutation type mimics the phosphorylation. Disruption of phosphorylation sites is used as a method to identify their effect in the DNA binding and transactivation of Pea3, and to obtain specific phosphorylation mapping of Pea3.

In this study, we tried to establish a system to study phosphorylation of Pea3 based on docking site specificity in different MAPKs such as NGF, IGF and BDNF. For this purpose, Pea3 wild-type and phopsho-mutants were sub-cloned into pGEX-4T-2 vector.

Firstly, all phospho-mutants and will type Pea3 were tried to be cloned into pGEX-4T-2

vector. Only wild-type, S90A, S90E, S101A, S101E and S458E mutants were subcloned successfully. The study S143A, S143E and S458A construct will be subcloned. With successfully cloned plasmids, optimization of bacterial expression was done. The plasmids were transformed into BL21 competent cell and then they were incubated until their OD₆₀₀ reached 0.3. Then IPTG induction was done because vector has a lac promoter. After induction process, samples were collected in time interval (t=0-6 hours). Expression levels in different time points were compared by SDS-PAGE analysis. The time point, which resulted in thicker protein band on gel, is chosen as optimum hour for expression of that construct. In my samples, I observed increase expression but it is not enough for my further analysis. I will be increased my time intervals and also I will use less lysis buffer. The possible reason behind the failure in thicker band observation might arised from the dilution in higher amounts. In the future, GST-Pull Down assay will be used to study the relationship between Pea3 phosphorylation and upstream signals stimulating MAPKs.

Regeneration of damaged axons became an important topic in the treatment of several neurodegenerative disorders, such as Alzheimer's or Parkinson's disease. A new strategy, which involves application of molecules, is responsible for neurite outgrowth and neuronal differentiation is being widely investigated worldwide. Development of a novel therapy by using proteins promoting differentiation and axonal elongation appears to represent a promising treatment in such disorders. In this context, we focused our research on identifying the regulation mechanisms of Pea3. We focused on phosphorylation mechanism of Pea3 due to the fact that elucidating roles of each phosphorylation motif and the responsible growth factors will eventually be used in designing treatments in animal disease models in future studies.

6. REFERENCES

[1] Latchman DS, "Transcription factors: an overview". *Int. J. Biochem. CellBiol.*, Vol. 29, pp. 1305–1312, 1997.

[2] Wheaton K, Atadja P and Riabowol K, "Regulation of transcription factor activity during cellular aging". *Biochem. Cell Biol.*, Vol.74, pp. 523–534, 1996.

[3] Evan G, Harrington E, Fanidi A, Land H, Amati B and Bennett M, "Integrated control of cell proliferation and cell death by the c-myc oncogene". *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B, Biol. Sci.*, Vol. 345, pp. 269–275, 1994.

[4] Brivanlou AH and Darnell JE, "Signal transduction and the control of gene expression" *Science* Vol. 295, pp. 813–818, 2002.

[5] Whiteside ST and Goodbourn S, "Signal transduction and nuclear targeting: regulation of transcription factor activity by subcellular localization". *Journal of Cell Science*, Vol.104, pp.949–55, 1993.

[6] Bohmann D, "Transcription factor phosphorylation: a link between signal transduction and the regulation of gene expression". *Cancer cells*, Vol. 2, pp. 337–344, 1990.

[7] Teif V.B and Rippe K, "Predicting nucleosome positions on the DNA: combining intrinsic sequence preferences and remodeler activities", *Nucleic Acids Research*, Vol. 37 5641–5655, 2009.

[8] Roeder, R.G., "The role of general initiation factors in transcription by RNA polymerase II", Trends Biochem. Sci. Vol. 21, No. 9, pp 327–35, 1996.

[9] Graves B.J., Petersen J.M., 1998, "Specificity within the ETS family of transcription factors", Advances in Cancer Research 75:1-55.

[10] Degnan, B.M., Degnan, S.M., Naganuma, T. and D.E. Morse, "The etsmultigene family is conserved throughout the Metazoa", Nucleic Acids Res.Vol 21, No. 15, pp 3479–3484, 1993.

[11] Oh S, Shin S and Janknecht R, "ETV1, 4 and 5: An Oncogenic Subfamily of ETS Transcription Factors", *BBA - Reviews on Cancer*, Accepted Manuscript, 2012.

[12] Launoit Y., Baert J., et.al, 1997, "Structure-Function Relationship of the PEA3 Group of ETS-Related Transcription Factors", Biomedical and Molecular Medicine 61: 127-135

[13] Shore P., Bisset L., Lakey J., Waltho J.P., Virden R., Sharrocks A.D., 1995, "Characterization of the Elk-1 DNA-binding domain", J-BiolChem 270:5805-5811.

[14] Gajiwala KS, Burley SK. 2000. Winged helix proteins. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 10:110–6

[15] Yang, S.H., Yates, R.P., Mo, Y. and A.D. Sharrocks, "The ETS domain transcription factors: lessons from the TCF subfamily", Gene TherMolBiol, Vol. 3, pp 355-371,1998.

[16] Dorion, S. and J. Landry, "Activation of Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways byheat shock", Cell Stress, Chap 7, No. 2, pp 200-206, 2002.

[17] Nakae K, Nakajima K, Inazawa J, Kitaoka T, and Hirano T, "ERM, a PEA3 subfamily of Ets transcription factors, can cooperate with c-Jun", *J. Biol.Chem*, Vol. 270, pp. 23795–23800, 1995.

[18] Monte D, Coutte L, Dewitte F, Defossez PA, Le Coniat M, Stehelin D, Berger R, and de Launoit Y, "Genomic organization of the human ERM (ETV5) gene, a PEA3 group member of ETS transcription factors", *Genomics*, Vol. 35, 236–240, 1996.

[19] Desmaze C, Brizard F, Turc-Carel C, Melot T, Delattre O, Thomas G and Aurias A, "Multiple chromosomal mechanisms generate an EWS/FLI1 or an EWS/ERG fusion gene in Ewing tumors", *Cancer Genet. Cytogenet.*, Vol. 97, pp. 12–19, 1997.

[20] Jeon IS, Davis JN, Braun BS, Sublett JE, Roussel MF, Denny CT and Shapiro DN, "A variant Ewing's sarcoma translocation (7;22) fuses the EWS gene to the ETS gene ETV1", *Oncogene*, Vol. 10, pp.1229–1234, 1995.

[21] Oikawa, T. and T. Yamada, "Molecular biology of ETS transcription factors", Gene, Vol. 16, pp 11-34, 2003.

[22] O'Hagan, R.C., Tozer, R.G., Symons, M., McCormick, F., and J.A. Hassell, "Theactivity of the Ets transcription factor PEA3 is regulated by two distinct MAPK cascades", Oncogene, Vol. 13, pp 1323–1333, 1996.

[23] Janknecht, R., Mont., D., Baert, J.L., and Y. de Launoit, "The Ets- related transcriptionfactor ERM is a nuclear target of signaling cascades involving MAPK and PKA", Oncogene, Vol. 13, pp 1745–1754, 1996.

[24] Guo, B. and A.D. Sharrocks, "Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signaling Initiates a Dynamic Interplay between Sumoylationand Ubiquition to Regulate the Activity of Pea3 Transcription Factor", Mol. Cell Biol.Vol. 29, No. 11, pp 3204-3218, 2009.

[25] Lin, A., Minden, A., Martinetto, H., Claret, F.-X., Lange-Carter, C., Mercurio, F.,Johson, J. L., and M. Karin, "Identification of dual specificity kinase that activates theJun kinases and p38-Mpk2", Science, Vol. 268, pp 286-290, 1995.

[26].Degerny, C., Monte, D., Beadoin, C., Jaffray, E., Portois, L., Hay, R.T., De Launoit, Y., "SUMO modification of the Ets-related transcription factor ERM inhibits its transcriptional activity", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 280, pp. 24330-24338, 2005.

[27] Guo, B., Panagiotaki, N., Warwood, S., Sharrocks, A.D., "Dynamic modification of the ETS transcription factor PEA3 by sumoylation and p300-mediated acetylation".

[28] Baker R, Kent CV, Silbermann RA, Hassell JA, Young LJ and Howe LR, "Pea3 transcription factors and wnt1-induced mouse mammary neoplasia", *PLoS One*, Vol.5, pp. 1-10, 2010.

[29] Xia WY., Lien HC, Wang SC, Pan Y, Sahin A, Kuo YH, Chang KJ, Zhou X, Wang H, Yu Z, Hortobagyi G, Shi DR and Hung MC," Expression of PEA3 and lack of correlation between PEA3 and HER-2/neu expression in breast cancer", *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* Vol. 98, pp. 295-301, 2006.

[30] Span PN., Manders P., Heuvel JJ., Beex LV. and Sweep CG., E1AF expression levels arenot associated with prognosis in human breast cancer, *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* Vol. 79, pp. 129-131, 2003.

[31] Chotteau-Lelievre A., Revillion F., Lhotellier V., Hornez L., Desbiens X., Cabaret V., deLaunoit Y. and J.P. Peyrat, "Prognostic value of ERM gene expression in human primarybreast cancers", *Clin. Cancer Res.* Vol. 10, pp. 7297-7303, 2004.

[32] Lin USCRB, Ferguson C, White JT, Wang S, Vessella R, True LD, Hood L and Nelson PS, "Prostate-localized and androgen-regulated expression of the membranebound serine protease TMPRSS2", *Cancer Res.*, Vol. 59, pp. 4180-4184, 1999.

[33] Horiuchi S, Yamamoto H, Min Y., Adachi Y, Itoh F and Imai K, "Association of etsrelated transcriptional factor E1AF expression with tumour progression and overexpression of MMP-1 and matrilysin in human colorectal cancer", *J. Pathol.* Vol. 200, pp. 568–576, 2003.

[34] Yamamoto H, Horiuchi S, Adachi Y, Taniguchi H, Nosho K, Min Y and Imai K, "Expression of ets-related transcriptional factor E1AF is associated with tumor progression and over-expression of matrilysin in human gastric cancer", *Carcinogenesis*, Vol.25, pp. 325–332, 2004. [35] Zhu X, Jiang J, Shen H, Wang H, Zong H, Li Z, Yang Y, Niu Z, Liu W, Chen X, Hu Y and Gu J, "Elevated beta1,4-galactosyltransferase I in highly metastatic human lung cancer cells. Identification of E1AF as important transcription activator", *J. Biol. Chem.* Vol. 280 pp. 12503–12516, 2005.

[36] Davidson B, Goldberg I, Gotlieb WH, Kopolovic J, Ben-Baruch G and Reich R, "PEA3 is the second Ets family transcription factor involved in tumor progression in ovarian carcinoma", *Clin. Cancer Res.* Vol. 9, pp. 1412–1419, 2003.

[37] Planaguma J, Abal M, Gil-Moreno A, Diaz-Fuertes M. Monge M, Garcia A, Baro T, Xercavins J, Reventos J and Alameda F, "Upregulation of ERM/ETV5 correlates with the degree of myometrial infiltration inendometrioid endometrial carcinoma", *J. Pathol.* Vol. 207 pp. 422–429, 2005.

[38]

[39] Arber, S., Ladle, D.R., Lin, J.H., Frank, E., and Jessell, T.M., "ETS Gene Er81 Controls the Formation of Functional Connections between Group Ia Sensory Afferents and Motor Neurons", *Cell* vol. 101, pp. 485–498, 2000

[40] Ladle, D.R., Frank, E., "The role of the ETS gene PEA3 in the development of motor and sensory neurons", *PhysiolBehav*, vol. 77 pp. 571-576, 2002.

[41] McCabe KL., McGuire C and Reh TA, "Pea3 expression is regulated by FGF signaling in developing retina", *Developmental dynamics : an official publication of the American Association of Anatomists*, Vol. 235, pp. 327-335, 2006

[42] Kurpios NA, MacNeil L, Shepherd TG, Gludish DW, Giacomelli AO and Hassell JA,
"The Pea3 Ets transcription factor regulates differentiation of multipotent progenitor cells during mammary gland development", *Developmental Biology*, Vol. 325, pp. 106-121, 2009.

[43] Sharrocks, A.D_The ETS domain transcription factor family. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 2,827837. 2001.

[44] Herrera.R. E. Shaw. P. E. and Nordheim. A. Occupation of the c-fos serum response element in vivo by multi-protein complex is unaltered by growth factor induction. Nature 3406870.1989

[45] Treisman R., Marais R. and Wyne , J. Spatial flexibility in ternary complexes between SRF and its accessory proteins. *EMBO J11*, 4631-4640. 1992

[46] Marais R., Wynne J., Treisman R. The SRF accessory protein Elk-1 contains a growth factor-regulated transcriptional activation domain. Cell 73, 381–393. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90237-K. 1993.

[47] Janknecht R., Zinck R., Ernst W. H., Nordheim A. Functional dissection of the transcription factor Elk-1. Oncogene 9, 1273–1278. 1994

[48] Cavigelli M., Dolfi F., Claret F. X., Karin M. Induction of c-fos expression through JNK-mediated TCF/Elk-1 phosphorylation. EMBO J. 14, 5957–5964. ,1995.

[49] Gille H., Strahl T., Shaw P. E. Activation of ternary complex factor Elk-1 by stressactivated protein kinases. Curr. Biol. 5, 1191–1200, 1995.

[50] Whitmarsh A. J., Shore P., Sharrocks A. D., Davis R. J. Integration of MAP kinase signal transduction pathways at the serum response element. Science 269, 403–407. doi: 10.1126/science.7618106. ,1995

[51] Enslen H., Raingeaud J., Davis R. J. Selective activation of p38 mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase isoforms by the MAP kinase kinases MKK3 and MKK6. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 1741–1748. 1998

[52] Cruzalegui F. H., Cano E., Treisman R. ERK activation induces phosphorylation of Elk-1 at multiple S/T-P motifs to high stoichiometry. Oncogene 18, 7948–7957. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1203362, 1999

[53] Janknecht R., Ernst W. H., Pingoud V., Nordheim A. Activation of ternary complex factor Elk-1 by MAP kinases. EMBO J. 12, 5097–5104. 1993

[54] Yang S. H., Shore P., Willingham N., Lakey J. H., Sharrocks A. D. The mechanism of phosphorylation-inducible activation of the ETS-domain transcription factor Elk-1. EMBO J. 18, 5666–5674. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.20.5666. 1999

[55] Pastorcic M., Das H. K. Ets transcription factors ER81 and Elk1 regulate the transcription of the human presenilin 1 gene promoter. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 113, 57–66. doi: 10.1016/S0169-328X(03)00090-1. 2003

[56] Roze E., Betuing S., Deyts C., Marcon E., Brami-Cherrier K., Pages C., Humbert S., Merienne K., Caboche J. Mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase-1 deficiency is involved in expanded-huntingtin-induced transcriptional dysregulation and striatal death. FASEB J. 22, 1083–1093. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-9814. 2008

[57] Iwata A., Miura S., Kanazawa I., Sawada M., Nukina N alpha-Synuclein forms a complex with transcription factor Elk-1. J. Neurochem. 77, 239–252. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.t01-1-00232.x. 2001

[58] Gardiner K.Transcriptionaldysregulation in Down syndrome: predictions for altered protein complex stoichiometries and post-translational modifications, and consequences for learning/behavior genes ELK, CREB, and the estrogen and glucocorticoid receptors. Behav. Genet. 36, 439–453. 2006

[59] Dwivedi Y., Rizavi H. S., Roberts R. C., Conley R. C., Tamminga C. A., Pandey G. N. Reduced activation and expression of ERK1/2 MAP kinase in the post-mortem brain of depressed suicide subjects. J. Neurochem. 77, 916–928. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00300.x. 2001

[60] Sananbenesi F., Fischer A., Schrick C., Spiess J., Radulovic J. Phosphorylation of hippocampal Erk-1/2, Elk-1, and p90-Rsk-1 during contextual fear conditioning: interactions between Erk-1/2 and Elk-1. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 21, 463–476. 2002

[61] E.S. Lander, L.M. Linton, B. Birren, C. Nusbaum, M.C. Zody, J. Baldwin, K.Devon, K. Dewar, M. Doyle, W. FitzHugh, R. Funke, D. Gage, K. Harris, A.Heaford, J. Howland, L. Kann, J. Lehoczky, R. LeVine, P. McEwan, K.McKernan, J. Meldrim, J.P. Mesirov, C. Miranda, W. Morris, J. Naylor, C.Raymond, M. Rosetti, R. Santos, A. Sheridan, C. Sougnez, N. Stange-Thomann, N. Stojanovic, A. Subramanian, D. Wyman, J. Rogers, J. Sulston, R. Ainscough, S. Beck, D. Bentley, J. Burton, C. Clee, N. Carter, A. Coulson, R. Deadman, P. Deloukas, A. Dunham, I. Dunham, R. Durbin, L. French, D. Grafham, S. Gregory, T. Hubbard, S. Humphray, A. Hunt, M. Jones, C. Lloyd, A. McMurray, L. Matthews, S. Mercer, S. Milne, J.C. Mullikin, A. Mungall, R. Plumb, M. Ross, R. Shownkeen, S. Sims, R.H. Waterston, R.K. Wilson, L.W. Hillier, J.D. McPherson, M.A. Marra, E.R. Mardis, L.A. Fulton, A.T. Chinwalla, K.H. Pepin, W.R. Gish, S.L. Chissoe, M.C. Wendl, K.D. Delehaunty, T.L. Miner, A. Delehaunty, J.B. Kramer, L.L. Cook, R.S. Fulton, D.L. Johnson, P.J. Minx, S.W. Clifton, T. Hawkins, E. Branscomb, P. Predki, P. Richardson, S. Wenning, T. Slezak, N. Doggett, J.F. Cheng, A. Olsen, S. Lucas, C. Elkin, E. Uberbacher, M. Frazier, et al., Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome, Nature 409 (2001) 860-921.

[62] D. Kampa, J. Cheng, P. Kapranov, M. Yamanaka, S. Brubaker, S. Cawley, J. Drenkow, A. Piccolboni, S. Bekiranov, G. Helt, H. Tammana and T.R. Gingeras, Novel RNAs identified from an in-depth analysis of the transcriptome of human chromosomes 21 and 22, Genome Res 14 (2004) 331-42.

[63] C. Ben-Dov, B. Hartmann, J. Lundgren and J. Valcarcel, Genome-wide analysis of alternative pre-mRNA splicing, J BiolChem 283 (2008) 1229-33.

[64] S. Stamm, S. Ben-Ari, I. Rafalska, Y. Tang, Z. Zhang, D. Toiber, T.A. Thanaraj and H. Soreq, Function of alternative splicing, Gene 344C (2005) 1-20.

[65] P.R. Romero, S. Zaidi, Y.Y. Fang, V.N. Uversky, P. Radivojac, C.J. Oldfield, M.S. Cortese, M. Sickmeier, T. LeGall, Z. Obradovic and A.K. Dunker, Alternative splicing in concert with protein intrinsic disorder enables increased functional diversity in multicellular organisms, ProcNatlAcadSci U S A 103 (2006) 8390-5.
[66] Y. Hofmann, C.L. Lorson, S. Stamm, E.J. Androphy and B. Wirth, Htra2-beta 1 stimulates an exonic splicing enhancer and can restore full-length SMN expression to survival motor neuron 2 (SMN2), ProcNatlAcadSci U S A 97 (2000) 9618-23.

[67] A. De Sandre-Giovannoli and N. Levy, Altered splicing in prelamin A-associated premature aging phenotypes, ProgMolSubcellBiol 44 (2006) 199-232.

[68] J.P. Venables, Unbalanced alternative splicing and its significance in cancer, Bioessays 28 (2006) 378-86.

[69] R.I. Skotheim and M. Nees, Alternative splicing in cancer: noise, functional, or systematic?, Int J Biochem Cell Biol 39 (2007) 1432-49.

[70] E. Stickeler, F. Kittrell, D. Medina and S.M. Berget, Stage-specific changes in SR splicing factors and alternative splicing in mammary tumorigenesis, Oncogene 18 (1999) 3574-82.

[71] Y.M. Ayala, T. Misteli and F.E. Baralle, TDP-43 regulates retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation through the repression of cyclin-dependent kinase 6 expression, ProcNatlAcadSci U S A 105 (2008) 3785-9.

[72] Vanhoutte P, et al. 2001. Opposing roles of Elk-1 and its brain-specificisoform, short Elk-1, in nerve growth factor-induced PC12 differentiation.J. Biol. Chem. 276:5189 – 5196.